**RECEIVED**

**Jan 29 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-002067

---

Thorne HealthTech, Inc. and Thorne  
Research, Inc.,

Appellants,

v.

Stephen H. Ross,

Respondent.

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Kevin A. Hall, SC Bar No. 15063  
1221 Main Street  
Suite 1600  
Columbia, SC 29201  
Telephone (803) 454-6504  
Facsimile (803) 454-6509  
Kevin.Hall@wbd-us.com

Ryan D. Ellard, SC Bar No. 103326  
5 Exchange Street  
P.O. Box 999 (29402)  
Charleston, SC 29401  
Telephone (843) 722-3400

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN HOLDING THAT IT LACKED SPECIFIC PERSONAL JURISDICTION OVER MR. ROSS?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN HOLDING THAT THE COMPLAINT SHOULD BE DISMISSED UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF *FORUM NON CONVENIENS*?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a series of disputes between an employer and its former employee. Appellants Thorne HealthTech, Inc. (“**Thorne HealthTech**”) and Thorne Research, Inc. (“**Thorne Research**”) (collectively, “**Thorne**”)<sup>1</sup> filed their Summons and Complaint on January 12, 2024. The Complaint included causes of action for breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty, violations of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, and declaratory judgement. Broadly, Thorne alleged that its former employee, Respondent Stephen H. Ross (“**Mr. Ross**”), violated his legal and contractual obligations by, *inter alia*, accessing and disseminating confidential and proprietary information. The Complaint also sought a declaration of the parties’ rights and obligations under his employment agreement.

Mr. Ross filed a Motion to Dismiss the Complaint on February 22, 2024. Mr. Ross argued that Thorne’s action should be dismissed for lack of personal jurisdiction and pursuant to the doctrine of *forum non conveniens*. Thorne countered that its causes of action relate to Mr. Ross’s South Carolina contacts; that Mr. Ross’s in-state contacts were extensive; and that application of *forum non conveniens* is inappropriate in this case.

The circuit court held a hearing on May 23, 2024. It entered a July 23, 2024 Order dismissing all causes of action, finding that it lacked personal jurisdiction over Mr. Ross and that

---

<sup>1</sup> Appellant Thorne Research is a wholly owned subsidiary of Thorne HealthTech. Compl., ¶ 1–3, Jan. 8, 2024.

*forum non conveniens* favored dismissal. After its Motion for Reconsideration was denied, Thorne filed its Notice of Appeal on December 4, 2024. Thorne respectfully requests that the Court of Appeals reverse the trial court’s order because: **(1)** Thorne made a *prima facie* showing that Mr. Ross is subject to personal jurisdiction in South Carolina; and **(2)** dismissing the case under the doctrine of *forum non conveniens* was improper.

**FACTS**

Thorne is a company focusing on innovative solutions to health and wellness. Compl., ¶ 4, Jan. 8, 2024. Thorne hired Mr. Ross to serve as Director of Business Development for Onegevity Health, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Thorne HealthTech. *Id.* at ¶ 6.

Thorne’s primary facilities for purposes of medical affairs, sales and marketing, research and development, manufacturing capacity and efficiencies, in-house laboratory and testing, materials management, and shipping are located in Berkeley County at 620 Omni Industrial Boulevard, Summerville, South Carolina. Compl., ¶ 7; Mem. of Law in Opp. to Mot. to Dismiss, Ex. A, Aff. of Holly Walter, SHRM-CP ¶¶ 3–4 (“**Walter Affidavit.**”). The overwhelming majority of Thorne’s workforce are in Summerville, South Carolina. Walter Affidavit, ¶ 5–6. Mr. Ross is a Georgia resident. Compl., ¶ 5. Although Mr. Ross had office space in Thorne’s New York office, the Complaint alleges that he routinely conducted business in South Carolina, entered into contracts to be performed in the State, and was involved in the production, manufacture, or distribution of goods with the reasonable expectation that those goods were to be used or consumed in South Carolina. *Id.* at ¶¶ 8–10; *see also* S.C. Code Ann. § 36-2-803. The Complaint also alleges that Mr. Ross routinely collaborated with Thorne’s South Carolina-based research and development staff, its clinical trial analysis staff, and its sales and marketing staff. Compl., ¶ 9; S.C. Code Ann. § 36-2-803. Thorne submitted a multitude of affidavits showing his extensive

contacts with Thorne's South Carolina professionals. Mem. of Law in Opp. to Mot. to Dismiss, Ex. A, C–E. Finally, the Complaint alleges that Thorne suffered damages as a result of Mr. Ross's actions. Compl., ¶ 16; S.C. Code Ann. § 36-2-803.

Mr. Ross's employment with Thorne ended in December of 2023. Mem. of Law in Supp. of Mot. to Dismiss, Ex. 2. Following termination of Mr. Ross's employment, the parties took varying interpretations as to the parties' respective rights and obligations. Compl., ¶ 40. Thorne's Complaint includes a declaratory judgment cause of action to that effect, seeking a judicial decree defining the parties' rights, duties, status, and legal relationship. *Id.* at ¶¶ 38–41. The Complaint also included causes of action for breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duties, and violations of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act. *Id.* at ¶¶ 17–37; S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-10 *et seq.* Although varying in their scope, these causes of action generally focused on Mr. Ross improperly accessing and disseminating confidential and propriety information regarding Thorne's business dealings. *Id.* Thorne alleges that Mr. Ross misused his position with Thorne for his own personal benefit or the benefit of others. *Id.*

Mr. Ross moved to dismiss the Complaint on February 22, 2024. Mot. to Dismiss, Feb. 22 2024. In his Memorandum of Law, he argued that the trial court lacked personal jurisdiction. Mem. of Law in Supp. of Mot. to Dismiss, 7–15, May 22, 2024. Specifically, Mr. Ross insisted that he was a New York-based employee and that his contacts with South Carolina were nominal. *Id.* Mr. Ross also urged the trial court to dismiss Thorne's action based on the doctrine of *forum non-conveniens*. *Id.* at 16. In support of his argument, Mr. Ross argued that the circuit court should dismiss Thorne's Complaint in favor of a New York forum. *Id.* Despite the fact that Mr. Ross resides in Georgia, he claimed that it would be more convenient for the parties to litigate in

New York than in South Carolina. *Id.* Thorne filed a Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion. Mem. in Opp. to Mot. to Dismiss, May 21, 2024.

The trial court held a hearing on May 23, 2024. Tr. of Mot. to Dismiss Hearing, May 23, 2024<sup>2</sup>. The parties filed supplemental briefs on May 28, 2024 and June 3, 2024. Supp. Mem. in Opp. to Mot. to Dismiss, May 28, 2024; Response to Supp. Mem., June 3, 2024. The court entered an Order on July 23, 2024 granting Mr. Ross’s Motion to Dismiss. Order Granting Mot. to Dismiss, July 23, 2024 (the “**Order**”). The court held that it lacks specific jurisdiction over Mr. Ross<sup>3</sup> and that Thorne’s action should be dismissed under the doctrine of *forum non conveniens*. Order, 5–12. After its Motion for Reconsideration was denied, Thorne filed a Notice of Appeal on December 4, 2024. Order Denying Mot. for Reconsideration, Nov. 6, 2024; Notice of Appeal, Dec. 4, 2024. No discovery has been taken in this case.

## ARGUMENTS

### **I. MR. ROSS IS SUBJECT TO PERSONAL JURISDICTION IN SOUTH CAROLINA.**

The trial court’s Order should be reversed because the Court has specific personal jurisdiction over Mr. Ross. The Court has the power to exercise personal jurisdiction because Mr. Ross knowingly entered a long-term employment contract with a South Carolina company and all four causes of action in Thorne’s Complaint relate to his employment. Moreover, personal jurisdiction is fair and reasonable in this case. Mr. Ross reaped a variety of benefits through his

---

<sup>2</sup> The Motion to Dismiss for this case, as well as a similar motion to dismiss in *Thorne HealthTech, Inc., and Thorne Research, Inc. v. Mary Kay*, Case No. 2023CP0802553, Court of Common Pleas, Berkeley County (Appellate Case No. 2024-002053) were heard together. Thus, the two hearings share the same transcript. Although there is some degree of overlap, the oral argument for the *Mary Kay Ross* case can be found at pages 4 through 51 of the transcript and oral argument associated with this case can be found at pages 51 through 60.

<sup>3</sup> The court also held that it lacked general jurisdiction over Mr. Ross. Thorne does not appeal the trial court’s holding with respect to general jurisdiction.

employment with a South Carolina company, interacted extensively with his peer South Carolina employees, and should have reasonably anticipated that he may be summoned to appear in a South Carolina court.

### **A. Standard of Review**

A trial court's personal jurisdiction decision should be affirmed unless unsupported by the evidence or influenced by an error of law. *Engineered Prods. v. Cleveland Crane & Eng'g*, 262 S.C. 1, 4, 201 S.E.2d 921, 922 (1974); *Hammond v. Cummins Engine Co.*, 287 S.C. 200, 204, 336 S.E.2d 867, 869 (1985). As outlined in the sections that follow, the trial court's Order was both unsupported by the evidence and influenced by errors of law.

Personal jurisdiction determinations must be resolved based upon the facts of each particular case. *State v. NV Sumatra Tobacco Trading, Co.*, 379 S.C. 81, 88, 666 S.E.2d 218, 221 (2008). “[A] *prima facie* showing of personal jurisdiction at the pre-trial stage is all that is required to continue [a] civil action.” *Mid-State Distributors, Inc. v. Century Importers, Inc.*, 310 S.C. 330, 335, 426 S.E.2d 777, 780–81 (1993). Affidavits may be submitted in support of the court exercising jurisdiction, but they are not required as the allegations of the complaint will ordinarily suffice. *Brown v. Invest. Mgmt. & Res., Inc.*, 323 S.C. 395, 399, 475 S.E.2d 754, 756 (1996). Factual disputes must be resolved in favor of the plaintiff. *M.B. Kahn Const. Co. v. Three Rivers Bank & Tr. Co.*, 354 S.C. 412, 415, 581 S.E.2d 481, 482 (2003) (emphasis added).

### **B. Legal Standards**

#### 1. Specific Jurisdiction

In this case, the Court has specific jurisdiction over Mr. Ross pursuant to our State's long-arm statute. Section 36-2-803 provides that the court may exercise personal jurisdiction where, *inter alia*, a cause of action is related to a party transacting business, entering into contracts, or

causing injury in the State. S.C. Code Ann. § 36-2-803. The long-arm statute extends to the outer limits of federal due process, and therefore “the sole question becomes whether the exercise of personal jurisdiction would violate due process.” *Leggett v. Smith*, 386 S.C. 63, 72, 686 S.E.2d 699, 704 (Ct. App. 2009).

Due process requires the defendant possess sufficient minimum contacts with the forum state such that he could reasonably anticipate being summoned to its courts. The specific jurisdiction analysis consists of two prongs: (1) the “power prong” that examines whether the defendant has sufficient minimum contacts with the forum state and (2) the “fairness prong” that assesses whether the court’s exercise of jurisdiction is reasonable or fair. *Moosally v. W.W. Norton & Co.*, 358 S.C. 320, 331, 594 S.E.2d 878, 884 (Ct. App. 2004) (citing *S. Plastics Co. v. S. Com. Bank*, 310 S.C. 256, 260, 423 S.E.2d 128, 131 (1992)).

## 2. The Power Prong

The power prong focuses on minimum contacts, specifically, whether “the defendant directed its activities to a resident of this State and that the cause of action arises out of or relates to those activities.” *S. Plastics Co. v. S. Com. Bank*, 310 S.C. 256, 260–61, 423 S.E.2d 128, 131 (1992). “[A] plaintiff need not show that her claim ‘came about because of the defendant’s in-state conduct.’ Instead, the specific jurisdiction test is more expansive, supporting a court’s exercise of jurisdiction over an out-of-state defendant where that defendant’s in-state contacts ‘relate to’ the plaintiff’s claim.” *Elec. Buffalo, LLC v. Kuhmute, Inc.*, No. 2:21-CV-02764-DCN, 2021 WL 5597860, at \*5 (D.S.C. Nov. 30, 2021) (emphasis in original) (internal citations omitted). Indeed, a “causation-only approach finds no support in this Court’s requirement of a ‘connection’ between a plaintiff’s suit and a defendant’s activities.” *Ford Motor Co. v. Montana Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 592 U.S. 351, 352, 141 S. Ct. 1017, 1019, 209 L. Ed. 2d 225 (2021).

Even a single act that causes harm in this State may create sufficient minimum contacts where the harm arises out of or relates to that act. *Moosally v. W.W. Norton & Co.*, 358 S.C. 320, 331, 594 S.E.2d 878, 884 (Ct. App. 2004); *see also Berkeley PG Corp. v. Southbank Inv. Grp., Inc.*, 291 S.C. 315, 320, 353 S.E.2d 305, 308 (Ct. App. 1987) (holding that, “The cases are legion that a single contact with the forum state is sufficient transacting of business to give its courts personal jurisdiction over a nonresident if the contact gives rise to, or figures prominently in the cause of action under consideration.”) Importantly, “[P]hysical presence in the State is not required to establish personal jurisdiction.” *State v. NV Sumatra Tobacco Trading, Co.*, 379 S.C. 81, 90, 666 S.E.2d 218, 222 (2008). “Courts have routinely found that breach of contract claims arise from or relate to the act of entering the contract at issue and that the exercise of specific jurisdiction over a defendant-party to the contract is proper in connection to those claims.” *Elec. Buffalo, LLC v. Kuhmute, Inc.*, No. 2:21-CV-02764-DCN, 2021 WL 5597860, at \*5 (D.S.C. Nov. 30, 2021); *see also Choice Hotels Int'l, Inc. v. Madison Three, Inc.*, 23 F. Supp. 2d 617, 621 (D. Md. 1998); *Ramada Franchise Sys., Inc. v. Hanna Hotel Enterprises, LLC*, 147 F. Supp. 2d 840, 846 (N.D. Ohio 2001).

### 3. The Fairness Prong

The fairness prong examines whether exercising jurisdiction would be fair or reasonable. The Court must consider: **(1)** the duration of activity of the nonresident within the state; **(2)** the character and circumstances of the commission of the nonresident’s acts; **(3)** the inconvenience resulting to the parties by conferring or refusing to confer jurisdiction over the nonresident; and **(4)** the State’s interest in exercising jurisdiction.” *State v. NV Sumatra Tobacco Trading, Co.*, 379 S.C. 81, 91, 666 S.E.2d 218, 223 (2008).

**C. The Exercise of Personal Jurisdiction over Mr. Ross Comports with the Power Prong of the Due Process Analysis.**

The Court has the power to exercise personal jurisdiction over Mr. Ross because Thorne's causes of action relate to his South Carolina contacts. All claims in this case relate to Mr. Ross's employment relationship with Thorne. The Complaint and affidavits submitted to the trial court support personal jurisdiction.

Thorne is a South Carolina company, and Mr. Ross knew of its predominant presence in the State when he accepted his long-term employment offer. Offer Letter, Aug. 14, 2021; Compl., ¶ 11. Both Plaintiffs, Thorne HealthTech, Inc. and Thorne Research, Inc.<sup>4</sup>, are registered to do business in South Carolina. Compl., ¶¶ 1–3, Jan. 8, 2024. Thorne's primary facility for purposes of medical affairs, sales and marketing, research and development, manufacturing capacity and efficiencies, in-house laboratory and testing, materials management, and shipping is located at 620 Omni Industrial Boulevard, Summerville, South Carolina. *Id.* at ¶ 7. Thorne also has a large secondary distribution center located at 558 Omni Industrial Boulevard, Summerville, South Carolina. Walter Affidavit, ¶ 4. As of August 2023, Thorne had approximately 689 employees. *Id.* at ¶ 5. The vast majority of Thorne's workforce – 571 employees or 82.9% – are located in South Carolina. *Id.* at ¶ 6. Where such a significant portion of Thorne's business operations lie in South Carolina, it is reasonable for Mr. Ross to have understood that that he would have extensive contacts with the State.

When Mr. Ross accepted an offer of employment with a company that has nearly 83% of its employees in South Carolina, including virtually all of its core business teams, there was a reasonable expectation that he would be doing business here, availing himself of the laws of the

---

<sup>4</sup> Thorne Research, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Thorne HealthTech, Inc. Compl., ¶¶ 1-3. Thorne Research, Inc. is organized under the laws of South Carolina. *Id.*

State, and having extensive contacts with South Carolina. The written job descriptions provided to Mr. Ross included a number of professional responsibilities inherently tied to Thorne's South Carolina operations. Mem. of Law in Opp. to Mot. to Dismiss, Ex. B, Job Descriptions. For example, the Job Description calls for Mr. Ross to regularly work in tandem with the sales, marketing, and manufacturing teams. Job Descriptions, 2, 3. Virtually all of Thorne's sales, marketing, and manufacturing staff are located in South Carolina. Compl., ¶ 7. All team building, collaboration, and development efforts to that end were South Carolina-focused. Job Descriptions, 3–4. He accepted a three-year employment contract with that knowledge. Offer Letter, 1–2.

Turning to the Complaint, Thorne asserted four causes of action. The declaratory judgment action requests a declaration of the parties' rights and obligations under the employment contract.<sup>5</sup> The breach of contract claim concerns a breach of the employment contract by virtue of Mr. Ross improperly accessing and disseminating Thorne's confidential business information. The breach of fiduciary claim relates to Mr. Ross's violations of his fiduciary duties as a director of Thorne. The Unfair Trade Practices Act claim relates to statutory violations by Mr. Ross while working for Thorne. Simply put, all of the alleged wrongdoing and underlying facts that will demonstrate his culpability relate to Mr. Ross's employment with Thorne. Without the employment relationship between Mr. Ross and Thorne, this lawsuit would never have been filed.

The case law supports personal jurisdiction where a plaintiff's claims relate to a defendant's employment. In *Belimed, Inc. v. Bleecker*, a South Carolina supplier of medical products filed suit against its former employee ("**Bleecker**") for breach of contract and violations of the state and federal trade secrets acts. No. 2:22-CV-00891-DCN, 2022 WL 939819 (D.S.C.

---

<sup>5</sup> The declaratory judgment requests an interpretation of an agreement involving a South Carolina party and provides the Court with an independent basis to reverse the trial court's Order.

Mar. 29, 2022). Bleecker worked in Arizona and moved to dismiss for want of personal jurisdiction. The *Belimed* facts draw several parallels to our case. Both cases involved defendant employees based in another state (Bleecker in Arizona and Mr. Ross in New York) who regularly communicated with their employers' South Carolina professionals. Mr. Ross claims he traveled to South Carolina one time in just under two years. Bleecker traveled to South Carolina "two times per year to South Carolina from 2015 to 2019, zero times in 2020, and only once in 2021." *Id.* at \*4. The court denied Bleecker's motion to dismiss, holding that, "This action, at its core, concerns the terms of Bleecker's employment with a South Carolina-based company and, therefore, arises out of Bleecker's connections with South Carolina." *Id.* at \*5. Similarly, every single cause of action in this case relates to Mr. Ross's employment with Thorne.

Thorne respectfully requests that the Court also consider *Tekway, Inc. v. Agarwal*, No. 19-CV-6867, 2020 WL 5946973 (N.D. Ill. Oct. 7, 2020) and *Env't 360, Inc. v. Walker*, 713 F. Supp. 3d 442 (M.D. Tenn. 2024). In *Tekway*, an Illinois employer filed suit against an out-of-state employee ("**Agarwal**") for violation of non-competition agreements. The Court denied Agarwal's motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction, finding that she knowingly accepted employment with a forum state company, entered into a multi-year employment contract that foreshadowed a long-term relationship with the state, and engaged in constant communications with the employer's in-state professionals – all facts that are present in the instant case. The Court concluded that Agarwal's motion to dismiss:

[P]laces too much weight on the fact that she never physically crossed the state boundaries. Personal jurisdiction does not require physical presence in the forum state. It is an inescapable fact of modern commercial life that a substantial amount of business is transacted solely by mail and wire communications across state lines, thus obviating the need for physical presence within a state in which business is conducted. Personal jurisdiction cannot be avoided simply because a defendant did not physically enter the forum state.

*Tekway, Inc.*, 2020 WL 5946973 at \*7 (internal citations omitted). The *Tekway* court’s holding echoes that of the *Belimed* court: “Agarwal entered into an employment relationship with an Illinois company, and the claims at issue arise out of that relationship.” *Id.* at \*8.

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