RECEIVED

May 05 2025

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge
Case No. 2024-CP-08-00077
Appellate Case No. 2024-002067

Thorne Healthtech, Inc. and Thorne Research, Inc., Appellants,

v.

Stephen H. Ross, Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

HAYNSWORTH SINKLER BOYD, P.A.

Stafford J. McQuillin III (SC Bar #78203)

J. Boone Aiken, IV (SC Bar #105243)

P.O. Box 340

Charleston, SC 29402

843.722.3366

mmcquillin@hsblawfirm.com

baiken@hsblawfirm.com

Sarah P. Spruill (SC Bar #68337)

P.O. Box 2048

Greenville, SC 29602

864.240.3200

sspruill@hsblawfirm.com

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

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court was within its discretion in dismissing this action based on the doctrine of *forum non conveniens*.

A. Thorne’s argument on appeal was not raised to the circuit court and is not preserved for this Court’s review.

On appeal, Thorne has raised a new argument, claiming that the circuit court misapplied the factors set forth in *Macaulay v. Wachovia Bank of S.C., N.A.*, 333 S.C. 201, 206, 508 S.E.2d 46, 49 (Ct. App. 1998). (App. Br. at Argument II). A review of the record shows no treatment of *forum non conveniens* in Thorne’s memorandum in opposition to the motion to dismiss and no mention of the doctrine by Thorne’s counsel at the hearing. (Motion, Transcript, R. at ____). Thorne’s motion for reconsideration does not cite *Macaulay*, does not list any factors, and does not charge that the dismissal on this ground suffered from any error of law. (Motion, R. at ____). Instead, Thorne asked the circuit court to reconsider “the relevance of physical distance, especially where Thorne—the only party who still has any presence in New York—is ready and willing to litigate in South Carolina.” As such, the argument presented on appeal is not preserved for this Court’s review. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 734 (1998) (holding that an argument must have been raised to and ruled on by the circuit court to be preserved for appellate

³ Thorne did not serve the motion on the circuit court within ten days as required by Rule 59(g), SCRPC.

review). The Court may affirm the order of dismissal on this basis alone. *Futch v. McAllister Towing of Georgetown, Inc.*, 335 S.C. 598, 613, 518 S.E.2d 591, 598 (1999) (providing that an appellate court need not address remaining issues when resolution of a prior issue is dispositive).

B. Standard of Review

In 1979, the South Carolina Supreme Court adopted the doctrine of *forum non conveniens*. *Braten Apparel Corp. v. Bankers Trust Company*, 273 S.C. 663, 259 S.E.2d 110 (1979). “The decision to invoke the doctrine of *forum non conveniens* is within the discretion of the trial court.” *Fed. Land Bank of Columbia v. Davant*, 292 S.C. 172, 179, 355 S.E.2d 293, 297 (Ct. App. 1987). Generally, “[a]n abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or is not supported by the evidence.” *Nelson v. Harris*, 441 S.C. 379, 386, 893 S.E.2d 592, 595 (Ct. App. 2023). Although Thorne’s brief correctly recites this standard, its brief appears to urge a *de novo* or preponderance of the evidence standard. As argued below, the circuit court’s ruling was an appropriate exercise of discretion and was supported by the law and the evidence.

C. The circuit court’s determination that “the convenience of the parties and the interests of justice are better served by dismissing this action in favor of a New York forum” is consistent with South Carolina law and the evidence in the record.

Under the doctrine of *forum non conveniens*, “a court with proper jurisdiction [may] dismiss an action when the convenience of the parties and the ends of justice would be better served if the action were tried elsewhere.” *Fed. Land Bank of Columbia*, 292 S.C. at 179, 355 S.E.2d at 297. “The doctrine is generally invoked whenever the forum has little or no relationship to a cause of action. A court should not dismiss an action under the doctrine unless the balance of factors strongly favors the defendant.” *Id.* (citations omitted).

The circuit court presented the following analysis of the issue:

Here, the Court finds that South Carolina has little to no relationship to Plaintiffs' causes of action. Specifically, Defendant's employment and relevant interactions occurred in New York, where both Thorne HealthTech's headquarters and the primary parties involved are based.⁴ Plaintiffs' causes of action are grounded in actions that took place in New York.⁵ Defendant's direct supervisors, the key witnesses, and the pertinent documents are all located in New York, further emphasizing New York's central role in this dispute.⁶ The Court finds that granting a dismissal would not prejudice Plaintiffs. Rather, it would require them to initiate their action in New York—the state where nearly every witness resides⁷; where Plaintiffs' law firm has an office; where Defendant and his wife, Dr. Mary Kay Ross, were employed during their tenure with Plaintiffs⁸; and where convening this action would substantially benefit all parties involved due to convenience and proximity. As such, the convenience of the parties and the interests of justice are better served by dismissing this action in favor of a New York forum.

(Order, R. at ____) (footnotes added to provide examples of support in Record on Appeal).

On appeal, Thorne argues that the circuit court misapplied the factors set forth in *Macaulay v. Wachovia Bank of S.C., N.A.*, 333 S.C. 201, 206, 508 S.E.2d 46, 49 (Ct. App. 1998). (App. Br. at Argument II). Those factors are:

(1) the relative ease of access to the sources of proof; (2) witness availability and costs of obtaining witness' attendance; (3) the possibility of viewing premises, if applicable to the action;⁹ (4) ease, time efficiency and expense incurred trying the case; (5) enforceability of a judgment, if one is obtained; (6) administrative difficulties for South Carolina courts; (6) local interests in the trial; and (7) difficulties for South Carolina courts arising from conflict of laws and interpretation of foreign law.

(footnote added).

⁴ (Ross Aff. ¶¶ 2, 13-14, Complaint ¶¶ 1-3, 20, R. at ____).

⁵ (Ross Aff. ¶ 19, R. at ____).

⁶ (Ross Aff. ¶ 13, R. at ____)

⁷ (See Ross Aff. ¶ 13, R. at ____)

⁸ (Ross Aff. ¶¶ 14-16, R. at ____).

⁹ The parties agree that this factor is not applicable. Similarly, it appears from Thorne's argument that enforceability of a judgment does not work in favor of New York or South Carolina. (App. Br. at Argument II). Nor are there any particular administrative or conflict of laws issues that would favor one jurisdiction over another.

Thorne has submitted its preferred treatment of the factors, but it has not shown any abuse of discretion. Namely, as far as the ease of access to sources of proof and witness availability and the cost of obtaining attendance and local interests in the trial, the record is clear that Ross was physically located in New York as were his supervisors during his employment. (Ross Aff. ¶ 13-16, R. at ____). There is also no dispute that the Parent Corporation is a Delaware Corporation and its corporate offices are located in New York. (*See* Complaint ¶ 1, Ross Aff. ¶ 2, R. at ____). Nor is there any dispute that Ross does not reside in South Carolina. (Complaint ¶ 5, R. at ____). These facts all support the connection to New York and New York’s interest in to adjudication of these claims. As such, there is evidence supporting the circuit court’s findings that the parties’ disputes should be resolved in New York.

With respect to the ease, time, efficiency and expense incurred trying the case, based on the very vague allegations contained in the amended complaint and the arguments in Thorne’s brief that this case stems from Ross’s employment, there does not appear to be any reason why Thorne’s claims should not proceed in New York together with the claims Thorne is asserting against Ross’s wife.¹⁰ The fact that Thorne Research, Inc. is predominantly located in South Carolina does not mean that the circuit court abused its discretion.

Having considered the record and the arguments before it, the circuit court’s analysis is supported by the record and constitutes a valid exercise of its discretion. Accordingly, this Court must affirm the circuit court’s dismissal of this action based on its finding that “the convenience

¹⁰ Although Dr. Ross’s case has a separate civil action number (Berkeley County Court of Common Pleas, 2024-CP-08-00077) and appellate case number (2024-002067), the two cases have been treated together as reflected in the joint hearing on the motions to dismiss and joint order denying the motions to reconsider. In terms of Dr. Ross and Ross, the convenience of the parties and the ends of justice favor letting all claims be resolved in New York.

of the parties and the interests of justice are better served by dismissing this action in favor of a New York forum.”

II. The circuit court correctly found that Ross is not subject to personal jurisdiction in South Carolina for purposes of this action.

A. Standard of Review

“The question of personal jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant is one which must be resolved upon the facts of each particular case. *State v. NV Sumatra Tobacco Trading, Co.*, 379 S.C. 81, 88, 666 S.E.2d 218, 221 (2008). “The decision of the trial court will be affirmed unless unsupported by the evidence or influenced by an error of law.” *Id.*; see *Cockrell v. Hillerich & Bradsby Co.*, 363 S.C. 485, 491, 611 S.E.2d 505, 508 (2005); *Coggeshall v. Reprod. Endocrine Assocs. of Charlotte*, 376 S.C. 12, 16, 655 S.E.2d 476, 478 (2007); *Cribb v. Spatholt*, 382 S.C. 475, 481, 676 S.E.2d 706, 709 (Ct. App. 2009). “When a motion to dismiss attacks the allegations of the complaint on the issue of jurisdiction, the court is not confined to the allegations of the complaint but may resort to affidavits or other evidence to determine jurisdiction.” *Coggeshall*, 376 S.C. at 16, 655 S.E.2d 476; *Cribb*, 382 S.C. at 481, 676 S.E.2d at 709.¹¹ Accordingly, modern

¹¹ To the extent Thorne has cited earlier cases that purport to apply a Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCPP standard, those cases have been supplanted by the more recent precedent cited here. With respect to the quoted discussion from *Mid-State Distributors, Inc. v. Century Importers, Inc.*, 310 S.C. 330, 335, 426 S.E.2d 777, 780-81 (1993), a review of the full quote in context shows that the analysis there pertained not to the standard of review for decisions on personal jurisdiction, but rather whether orders denying motions to dismiss on personal jurisdiction grounds are immediately appealable. As stated there,

The prima facie showing of personal jurisdiction at the pre-trial stage is all that is required to continue the civil action. To do otherwise would require a much greater degree of specificity in the pleadings than is currently mandated by the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. Further, after a prima facie showing, the appeal of the personal jurisdiction issue prior to a full development of the facts serves no useful function. There is no finality in a denial of the motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction. Just as with a denial of a 12(b)(6), the prima facie showing will succeed or fail at trial. It would be inconsistent with this Court's decisions

South Carolina case law shows that circuit courts are required to carefully consider the facts and record before them in making decisions on issues of personal jurisdiction and those decisions will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. In other words, circuit courts are not required to find jurisdiction because a plaintiff has made vague jurisdictional allegations in its complaint.

B. Thorne has not established personal jurisdiction in this matter.

The question of personal jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant is one which must be resolved upon the facts of each particular case. *NV Sumatra Tobacco Trading, Co.*, 379 S.C. at 88, 666 S.E.2d at 221. When personal jurisdiction is challenged by a motion pursuant to Rule 12(b)(2), SCRCF, the “party seeking to invoke personal jurisdiction . . . by utilization of our long-arm statute [S.C. Code Ann. § 36-2-803] has the burden of establishing jurisdiction.” *Aviation Assocs. & Consultants, Inc. v. Jet Time, Inc.*, 303 S.C. 502, 505, 402 S.E.2d 177, 178 (1991).

As set forth by this Court,

Traditionally, our courts have conducted a two-step analysis to determine whether specific jurisdiction is proper by 1) determining if the long arm statute applies and 2) determining whether the nonresident’s contacts in South Carolina are sufficient to satisfy due process requirements. However, a more recent trend compresses the analysis into a due process assessment only.

Cribb, 382 S.C. at 475, 676 S.E.2d at 710-11 (citations omitted). Due process requires that a defendant possess minimum contacts with the forum state such that maintenance of suit does not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice. *Coggeshall*, 376 S.C. at 16, 655 S.E.2d at 478. “Further, the due process requirement mandates the defendant possess sufficient minimum contacts with the forum state such that he could reasonably anticipate being haled into

dealing with other pre-trial dismissal motions if a special niche were maintained for personal jurisdiction.

Id.

court there.” *Power Prods. & Servs. Co. v. Kozma*, 379 S.C. 423, 431-32, 665 S.E.2d 660, 665 (Ct. App. 2008).

Courts apply a two-pronged analysis when determining whether a defendant possesses minimum contacts with the forum state such that maintenance of suit does not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice. *Id.* at 432, 665 S.E.2d at 665. “The court must (1) find that the defendant has the requisite minimum contacts with the forum, without which, the court does not have the ‘power’ to adjudicate the action and (2) find the exercise of jurisdiction is reasonable or fair.” *Id.* It is not enough to merely satisfy the “power” prong, a plaintiff must also satisfy the “fairness” prong of the test. *Cribb*, 382 S.C. at 489-90, 676 S.E.2d at 714 (finding that although there were minimum contacts with the state, dismissal was appropriate under the fairness prong because “nothing which [was] the subject of this litigation ha[d] taken place in South Carolina”).

1. Ross lacked minimum contacts with South Carolina with respect to the causes of action asserted.

To satisfy the “power prong,” the Court must find the defendant directed his activities to residents of South Carolina and that the cause of action arises out of or relates to those activities. *Moosally v. W.W. Norton & Co.*, 358 S.C. 320, 331-32, 594 S.E.2d 878, 884 (Ct. App. 2004). As summarized by Thorne, South Carolina courts have “the power to exercise jurisdiction because Mr. Ross knowingly entered a long-term employment contract with a South Carolina company and all four causes of action in Thorne’s Amended Complaint relate to his employment[.]” (App. Br. at Argument I at Introduction). The record, however, paints a different picture.

The terms of the offer letter signed by Ross and issued by Dr. Nathan Price on behalf of Onegevity, then a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent Corporation, makes clear that Ross’s

employment was based at Parent Corporation's corporate office in New York. (Ross Aff. ¶¶ 7-9, R. at ____). Thorne has not produced any employment agreement, long term or otherwise, governing Ross's employment, and no such agreement exists. Thorne's references to business activity in South Carolina relate solely to Thorne Research, Inc., a separate corporate entity headquartered in South Carolina, and not to Onegevity, Drawbridge, or Parent Corporation—the only entities with which Ross was affiliated. (Walter Aff., R. at ____).

Consistent with his role as Director of Business Development, Ross relocated from Georgia to New York and performed all of his job duties from the New York corporate office. (Ross Aff. ¶¶ 2(g), 10-13, R. at ____). His supervisors were based in New York, and his day-to-day responsibilities were confined to that state. (Ross Aff. ¶¶ 13-16, R. at ____). Ross's only visit to South Carolina during his employment was a brief, one-and-a-half-day personal trip to accompany his wife on a tour of the Summerville facility—an event unrelated to the claims at issue. (Ross Aff. ¶¶ 14-15, R. at ____).

The evidence in the record mirrors that in *Delta Apparel, Inc. v. Farina*, 406 S.C. 257, 271-72, 750 S.E.2d 615, 622-23 (Ct. App. 2013). In reversing the trial court's finding that there was personal jurisdiction, this Court provided the following discussion:

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